ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

\_\_\_\_\_  
Certiorari to Greenville County  
D. Garrison Hill, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

**RECEIVED**

JUN 17 2014

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

GEORGE JACKSON,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-002467  
\_\_\_\_\_

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
\_\_\_\_\_

BENJAMIN JOHN TRIPP  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

## ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether the record supported the trial court's findings both that Petitioner's successive PCR claim was impermissibly delayed and that the after-discovered impeachment evidence of criminal charges against the State's key witness was immaterial where Petitioner presented uncontroverted evidence that his plea counsel specifically requested notice of any charges against the informant, where the State had the information in its possession but did not disclose it, and where Petitioner did not discover the charges until years after his plea?

## STATEMENT

The State alleged that on December 18, 2002, Petitioner George Dean Jackson, Jr. delivered over 28 grams of cocaine to a confidential informant with the Greenville County Sheriff's Office and that on March 27, 2003, near the same location, he distributed over 100 grams of cocaine to the informant. Officers had several telephone recordings of conversations between Petitioner and the informant as well as inculpatory statements from Petitioner. App. 16, line 17—App. 17, line 22.

On October 21, 2003, the Greenville County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner on one count of trafficking cocaine more than 100 grams and one count of trafficking cocaine more than 28 grams. App. 149-154. According to Petitioner's counsel, the solicitor "would not go any better than fifteen years" in negotiating a plea bargain. App. 18, lines 1-3. Therefore, on June 15, 2004, Petitioner appeared at a plea hearing before The Honorable W. Edward Miller. James H. Price represented Petitioner and Rachel List represented the State. App. 1. Based on a plea deal, Petitioner pled to two charges of trafficking cocaine more than 28 grams with recommended concurrent sentences of fifteen years of incarceration. App. 7, line 21—App. 11, line 17.

However, at the time of the plea, neither Petitioner nor counsel knew that on June 1, 2003, the confidential informant was arrested in an incident for which he was later charged with assault and battery with intent to kill. Additionally, on October 14, 2003, the informant was found in possession of a pistol with an obliterated serial number, for which he was also indicted. Further, during his arrest for the latter offense, police found evidence with which to indict him for trafficking cocaine. The informant eventually pled guilty to all three charges. App. 122-130.

On November 7, 2005, Petitioner filed his first application for post-conviction relief, alleging, inter alia, ineffective assistance of counsel and failure to obtain *Brady*<sup>1</sup> discovery material. Petitioner appeared at an evidentiary hearing on April 18, 2006 before The Honorable James E. Lockemy. The PCR court dismissed Petitioner's claim by order dated May 19, 2006. The South Carolina Supreme Court denied Petitioner's petition for writ of certiorari by order dated March 6, 2008. App. 28-29;

On July 6, 2012, Petitioner filed another application for post-conviction relief alleging that within the previous year, Petitioner discovered the charges against the informant. He further alleged that the State never disclosed the charges although he made a request therefor. App. 20—27; App. 39.

On February 13, 2013, the State filed a return and motion to dismiss arguing the application was filed outside of the time limits set forth in the Uniform Post-Conviction Procedure Act<sup>2</sup> and was impermissibly successive to a previous application. App. 28-34. On February 25, 2013, the PCR court issued a conditional order of dismissal, explaining that it would dismiss the application unless Petitioner provided specific factual and legal reasons why it should not. App. 39-44.

On March 7, 2013, Petitioner filed a reply to the State's motion arguing that he was entitled to prove at an evidentiary hearing that he filed the application within one year of discovering the alleged failure by the State to provide the *Brady* materials. App. 35-37. On March 15, 2013, submitted a motion and reply to the conditional order of dismissal. App. 49-51.

---

<sup>1</sup> *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83 (1963).

<sup>2</sup> S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-10 et seq.

On June 8, 2003, Petitioner attended an evidentiary hearing before The Honorable D. Garrison Hill. J. Falkner Wilkes represented Petitioner and Karen C. Ratigan represented the State. App. 52. Petitioner testified that he filed the PCR application within one year of discovering the undisclosed charges, which occurred upon consulting with Counsel Wilkes. App. 60, lines 1-7.

Petitioner also called plea counsel and introduced into evidence four documents separately requesting *Brady* discovery, a cover letter, and a certificate of service, all dated March 5, 2004. Petitioner then introduced a cover letter from the State responding to the requests, including a list enumerating each document produced, and a certificate of service, both of which were dated March 15, 2004. App. 63, line 25—App. 65, line 14; App. 81, 14-17; App. 100-115; App. 116-118.

The fourth discovery request, entitled “Motion for Disclosure of Impeaching Information and Memorandum of Law,” listed the following:

2. Any and all records and information revealing **prior misconduct or bad acts attributed to the witness.**
3. Any and all consideration or **promises of consideration given to or on behalf of the witness** or expected or hoped for by the witness. . . .
4. Any and all threats, express or implied, made against the witness, criminal prosecutions, investigations, or **potential prosecutions pending or which could be brought against the witness**, any probationary, parole or deferred prosecution status of the witness . . .
- . . .
8. Any and all records and/or **information which arguably could be helpful or useful to the defense in impeaching** or otherwise detracting from the probative force of the government’s evidence or which arguably could lead to such records or information.

9. The same records and information requested in items 1 through 8 above with respect to each non-witness whose statements are offered into evidence.

App. 108-109 (emphases added). The request then featured a lengthy legal discussion explaining Petitioner's right to receive the requested information from the state. App. 109-114.

After examining the materials, plea counsel stated, "From looking at [Petitioner's] file . . . and looking at the State's file and talking with Ms. Ratigan, . . . I do not recall any information about the informant being arrested . . . ." App. 65, lines 21-25. He then testified with conviction that having the information would have helped him in negotiating a better plea deal:

Q: Mr. Price, . . . tell me if those charges are the type of charges that would have been beneficial in your defense of the case had you known about them?

A: You know, they, certainly, would have been beneficial as far as my negotiations with the prosecutor. I can't really say how beneficial as far as trial is concerned.

App. 66, line 24—App. 67, line 4.

Q: Given that . . . Mr. Jackson had a confession, given that there were audiotapes of the buy, given that he had some priors, in your opinion, would knowing the prior offenses of the CI have changed the outcome of the case . . . ?

A: It could very possibly have gotten Mr. Jackson a better deal as far as a plea offer. As far as trial is concerned, . . . that is speculative. . . . I would have still had a tough road [sic] to hoe in light of the confession that he gave. But absolutely it would have helped me as far as negotiating with the Solicitor as far as a potential plea is concerned.

App. 70, line 21—App. 71, line 8.

Although Rachel List no longer worked at the Solicitor's office at the time of the PCR hearing, a current Solicitor, Kathryn McCall, appeared with the office's file from Petitioner's criminal case. When asked whether she could show anything in the discovery responses that

indicated the informant's charges, she responded, "No. This is just our standard response with the Code Five and all those things that go with that." App. 80, lines 9-25; App. 82, lines 12-15. She also stated that based on her office's policy, plea counsel would not have been told about any charges against the informant. App. 83, 4-8.

At the conclusion of the presentation of evidence, counsel for Petitioner argued to the PCR judge that the case was unique because plea counsel did not only make a general request for materials under *Brady* or Rule 5, SCRCrimP,<sup>3</sup> but he made a specific request for information relating to any charges against the informant. Because the State made a responded with a packet of numerous documents relevant to the case but not including the impeaching evidence, plea counsel reasonably believed and relied on the representation that the informant had no charges. App. 84, line 9—App. 85, line 3.

On August 14, 2013, the PCR judge issued a final order of dismissal concluding that Petitioner's claim should be dismissed for three reasons. First, the application was outside of the time limits of section 17-27-45(a) of the Uniform Post-Conviction Procedure Act. Second, the claim was impermissibly successive to a previous application under *Land v. State*, 274 S.C. 243, 246, 262 S.E.2d 735, 737 (1980) and code section 17-27-90. App. 132-141. Third, considering that the informant's charges arose after the alleged drug sales along with the facts that Petitioner made a confession and that audio recordings of the sales existed, the prosecution of the informant was not material under *Brady* because no reasonable probability existed that Petitioner's case would have been different had the prosecution been disclosed. App. 134-139.

---

<sup>3</sup> Rule 5, SCRCrimP addresses "Disclosure in Criminal Cases."

## ARGUMENT

**The evidence does not support the PCR court's dismissal of Petitioner's successive claim based on the State's *Brady* violation in concealing impeachment evidence because the testimony of Petitioner's plea counsel showed the concealment resulted in a bargain Petitioner would not have taken had he known of the evidence, and the concealment prevented Petitioner from making the claim any earlier than he did.**

The evidence does not support the PCR court's dismissal of Petitioner's successive claim based on the State's *Brady* violation in concealing impeachment evidence because the testimony of Petitioner's plea counsel showed the concealment resulted in a bargain Petitioner would not have taken had he known of the evidence, and the concealment prevented Petitioner from making the claim any earlier than he did. The Uniform Post-Conviction Procedure Act provides that any person who has been convicted of a crime in violation of the Federal Constitution, South Carolina Constitution, or laws of South Carolina may seek relief through a PCR proceeding. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-20. A defendant may challenge his guilty plea in a PCR action based on a *Brady* violation. *See generally Gibson v. State*, 334 S.C. 515, 514 S.E.2d 320 (1999). A person must file the application for relief within one year of the conviction or final decision on appeal. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-45(a). However, a person asserting that newly discovered evidence requires vacation of his conviction may file an application "within one year after the date of actual discovery of the facts by the applicant or after the date when the facts could have been ascertained by the exercise of reasonable diligence." S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-45(b). A person is not entitled to post-conviction relief if the ground asserted was not properly raised or was knowingly and voluntarily waived in the original proceeding or in a prior PCR proceeding. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-90. Thus, a successive PCR applicant bears "the burden of proving that a new ground for relief could not have been raised in the previous application." *Land v. State*, 274 S.C. 243, 246, 262 S.E.2d 735, 737 (1980).

Under *Brady*, the State has a duty to disclose evidence that is favorable to the defendant. *State v. Frazier*, 394 S.C. 213, 223, 715 S.E.2d 650, 655 (Ct. App. 2011) (citing *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83 (1963)). “The burden is on the solicitor to disclose material evidence which is exculpatory or impeaching.” *Riddle v. Ozmint*, 369 S.C. 39, 44, 631 S.E.2d 70, 73 (2006). “The suppression by the [State] of evidence favorable to an accused upon request violates due process where the evidence is material either to guilt or punishment.” *Brady*, 373 U.S. at 87. “A defendant asserting a *Brady* violation must demonstrate that the evidence (1) is favorable to the accused; (2) in the possession of or known by the prosecution; (3) was suppressed by the State; and (4) was material to the accused’s guilt or innocence or was impeaching. *Riddle* at 39, 631 S.E.2d at 73.

In this case, the uncontroverted evidence presented at trial established that the delay in filing the present PCR claim was excusable under the Uniform PCR Act. When Petitioner pled guilty on October 21, 2003, he was unaware of the informant’s charges. He testified that he filed the present PCR application within one year of discovering the undisclosed charges upon talking with counselor Wilkes. The State did not challenge this claim by competing evidence or cross-examination.

Petitioner also could not have previously discovered the charges by the exercise of reasonable diligence. Petitioner’s former plea counsel exercised due diligence by specifically requesting notice of the charges under standard *Brady* procedures. The solicitor gave no notice of the charges even though she had the duty and resources to do so. She thereby made a representation to plea counsel that no charges existed. Thus, Petitioner was not obligated by reasonable diligence to continuously search for undisclosed evidence after his plea—particularly considering he has since been in prison—but he was entitled to reasonably rely on the

representation. The solicitor's de facto suppression of the information was an inherent violation of Petitioner's due process, and to hold that he should have remedied the violation solely by his own efforts would negate the due process right ab initio.

Similarly, the uncontroverted evidence established that Petitioner's successive PCR application was excusable. As stated above, because Petitioner exercised reasonable diligence in discovering the informant's charges, he could not reasonably have been required to assert the undisclosed charges as a ground for relief at the filing of his first PCR application. Additionally, Petitioner's lack of actual and constructive knowledge of the charges means he could not have knowingly and voluntarily waived the grounds in the first PCR proceeding.

Finally, the record does not support the PCR judge's finding that the knowledge of the informant's charges was immaterial for purposes of a *Brady* violation. According to Petitioner's counsel firmly refused to recommend sentence less than fifteen years in exchange for a plea. Plea counsel expressly testified that knowing of the informant's charges "certainly would have been beneficial as far as . . . negotiations" and "absolutely . . . would have me as far as negotiating with the Solicitor as far as a potential plea is concerned." Further, plea counsel specifically testified that the knowledge would have been helpful even in light of Petitioner's statements to police and the audiotapes of the sales. His testimony was particularly credible because plea counsel was at the same time brutally honest about the lack of help that the charges could have posed at a trial. Moreover, the State again neither presented evidence to contradict this testimony nor undermined its credibility on cross-examination.