STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

OCT - 7 2014

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. Supreme Court

The Honorable D. Garrison Hill, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2013-002467

George D. Jackson, Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina, Respondent.

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR
WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

KAREN C. RATIGAN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar # 68331

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, S.C. 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The PCR judge did not err in finding Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving he is entitled to post-conviction relief.

Petitioner argues the State violated Brady¹ by not providing him with evidence of criminal charges against the State’s witness, acquired after the witness acted as a confidential informant, which could have been used as material impeachment evidence. Petitioner also argues his second PCR application was not impermissibly successive and the newly discovered evidence exception under Section 17-27-45(b) applied to his case, therefore making the timeliness of his application in compliance with the Uniform Post-Conviction Procedure Act. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-45(b) (2003). These arguments are without merit.

A.

On December 18, 2002, Petitioner delivered in excess of twenty-eight (28) grams of cocaine to a criminal informant in Greenville County. (App.p.16). Following this exchange, on March 27, 2003, Petitioner delivered in excess of one hundred (100) grams

¹ Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S. Ct. 1194 (1963).

of cocaine to a confidential informant with the Greenville County Sheriff's Office. (App.p.16). The Solicitor's office reduced the charge involving over one hundred grams of cocaine down one level, allowing Petitioner to plead to two counts of trafficking in excess of twenty-eight grams of cocaine. (App.p.8).

At the guilty plea hearing, Petitioner stated he wanted to plead guilty, and that no one had forced, coerced, threatened, or promised him anything in order to have him enter his plea. (App.pp.9-10). Petitioner stated he was guilty of the charges, satisfied with the representation of his attorney, and had no complaints to make against his attorney, the Solicitor's office, or law enforcement concerning this case. (App.pp.10-11). Petitioner stated he wanted to waive his right to a jury trial and plead guilty. (App.p.10). The assistant solicitor recited the facts to support each of the charges. (App.pp.16-17).

Regarding the two counts of trafficking cocaine, the assistant solicitor stated:

On 3/27/03, [Petitioner] did deliver more than 100 grams of cocaine to a confidential informant with the Greenville County Sheriff's Office. This transaction occurred at 1922 August Street in Greenville County. On December 18th of 2002, [Petitioner] distributed more than 28 grams of cocaine to a criminal informant at 1111 August Street in Greenville County. Regards to prior a [sic] record, in '93 a CDV. The recommendation from the State is 15 years concurrent.

(App.p.16). Petitioner agreed with the State's recitation of these facts. (App.p.17).

Petitioner's father asked the Court to show mercy. (App.p.17). Plea counsel then spoke in mitigation. (App.pp.17-18). Plea counsel stated when he received his discovery package two weeks after he was hired, he learned the State had a confidential informant and "there were several recorded telephone conversations between the two of them." (App.p.17). Plea counsel acknowledged both the informant and Petitioner gave

statements, and that “from the get go it’s not been a question of guilt or innocence, just been a question of begging and pleading.” (App.p.17). Plea counsel stated he had advised Petitioner that “he stands little or no chance at a trial.” (App.pp.17-18). Plea counsel advised the Court that the Solicitor had offered this fifteen-year recommendation and was not willing to offer anything lower. (App.p.18). The plea judge accepted the recommendation and levied a fifteen-year sentence. (App.p.18).

B.

At the PCR hearing, the State argued this PCR application was untimely because it was filed more than one year after Petitioner’s direct appeal was dismissed. (App.p.56). The State also argued the application was successive because Petitioner already had “his one bite at the apple” and failed to raise these issues at his initial PCR hearing in 2006. (App.p.56). Lastly, the State argued Petitioner had not substantiated his claim that he filed the application within one year after discovering the alleged after-discovered evidence of the informant’s criminal charges. (App.p.56).

Petitioner testified that when he retained plea counsel, he was not aware the State’s informant had been arrested for trafficking cocaine, and that this information was not disclosed to him prior to making his decision to plead guilty. (App.p.59). When asked if he would have chosen to go to trial rather than plead guilty if he had known this information, Petitioner stated “[p]robably, yes.” (App.p.59). Petitioner stated he discovered this information when he “seen the motion [for discovery].” (App.p.59). Petitioner testified his counsel brought the second PCR action “once we found out.” (App.p.60). Petitioner admitted, however, that he knew the informant’s identity when he

pled guilty in 2004 and – therefore – also at his first PCR hearing. (App.pp.61-62). Petitioner also admitted he gave a confession in this case. (App.p.62).

Plea counsel testified he made a general Brady motion and a motion requesting information on “impeachment witnesses” from the State on March 5, 2004. (App.pp.64-65). Plea counsel testified the “identify of the informant does not appear to be an issue,” but that he did not recall “information about the informant being arrested, or having been arrested.” (App.p.65). After consulting exhibits, plea counsel testified the incident dates related to the informant’s subsequent arrests were June 1, 2003 and October 14, 2003 and that these charges appeared to be pending at the time of the guilty plea. (App.pp.74-75). Plea counsel testified that while having this information would have been beneficial in negotiating with the assistant solicitor, he could not “say how beneficial they would have been as far as a trial is concerned.” (App.p.67). Plea counsel testified he and Petitioner spoke about all of his options, including the advantages and disadvantages of a trial. (App.p.69). Plea counsel testified he and Petitioner discussed the impact that both Petitioner’s confession and the audiotaped transaction of the cocaine purchase had on the defense. (App.p.68). Plea counsel testified knowing information about the informant’s subsequent arrest would have helped in negotiations with the assistant solicitor “as far as a potential plea is concerned,” but that “[he] would have still had a tough road to hoe in light of the confession that [Petitioner] gave.” (App.p.71).

Assistant solicitor Kathryn McCall of the Thirteenth Circuit Solicitor’s Office testified the assistant solicitor who handled Petitioner’s case no longer worked in the Solicitor’s Office. (App.p.80). After reviewing the State’s file, McCall testified plea

counsel was not provided with the impeachment material on the informant, but instead was provided with the Solicitor's office "standard response with the Code Five and all those things that go with that." (App.p.82). McCall testified the Solicitor's office does not turn over confidential informant information unless the case goes to trial. (App.p.82).

The PCR judge took the matter under advisement. (App.p.98). In his subsequent order denying post-conviction relief, the PCR judge found the PCR application must be dismissed based on the expiration of the statute of limitations and the presumption against successive PCR applications. The PCR judge also found Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving either after-discovered evidence or a Brady violation. (App.pp.132-39).

C.

The PCR judge did not err in finding Petitioner's PCR application was filed outside the expiration of the statute of limitations and that Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving newly-discovered evidence in order to circumvent this issue.

For an applicant to be granted post-conviction relief, they must comply with the filing procedures of the Uniform Post-Conviction Procedure Act. S.C. Code Ann. §§ 17-27-10, et. seq. (2003). South Carolina Code Ann. § 17-27-45(a) reads as follows:

An application for relief filed pursuant to this chapter *must* be filed within one year after the entry of a judgment of conviction or within one year after the sending of the remittitur to the lower court from an appeal or the filing of the final decision upon an appeal, whichever is later (emphasis added).

An exception to the statute of limitations is applicable when an applicant discovers "evidence of material facts not previously presented and heard that requires

vacation of the conviction or sentence.” S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-45(c) (2003). Under circumstances of newly-discovered evidence, the PCR applicant must file “within one year after the date of actual discovery of the facts by the applicant or after the date when the facts could have been ascertained by the exercise of reasonable diligence.” Id.

This Court has held that, for an applicant to be granted post-conviction relief based on newly-discovered evidence, he must show the alleged evidence:

- (1) Is such as would probably change the result if a new trial was had;
- (2) Has been discovered since the trial;
- (3) Could not by the exercise of due diligence have been discovered before the trial;
- (4) Is material to the issue of guilt or innocence; and,
- (5) Is not merely cumulative or impeaching.

Hayden v. State, 278 S.C. 610, 611-12, 299 S.E.2d 854, 855 (1983) (citation omitted) (emphasis added).

The PCR judge did not err in finding that Petitioner failed to comply with the filing requirements of the Uniform Post-Conviction Procedure Act. S.C. Code Ann. §§ 17-20-10, et. seq. (2003). Petitioner pled guilty to the challenged offenses on June 15, 2004. (App.p.9). After Petitioner requested to withdraw his appeal, the South Carolina Court of Appeals dismissed his appeal on August 16, 2006. Petitioner did not file his second PCR application until July 6, 2012, which was more than five years after the statutory filing period expired. (App.pp.28-33). The defense of statute of limitations is properly raised through a motion for summary judgment. See McDonnell v. Consolidated Sch. Dist. of Aiken, 315 S.C. 487, 489, 445 S.E.2d 638, 639 (1994). “A motion for summary judgment should be granted when there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” Hedgepath v. American Tel.

& Tel. Co., 348 S.C. 340, 353, 559 S.E.2d 327, 334 (2001) (citation omitted).

The exception to the statutory filing period provided in S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-45(c) is not applicable to the facts of this case. Petitioner asserts the evidence of the informant's criminal charges entitles him to a new trial because he exercised reasonable diligence in attempting to discover this information. Petitioner provided no corroborating evidence to confirm his testimony that he filed this second PCR application within one year of discovering the criminal charges against the State's informant. (App.p.60).

Petitioner failed to prove the informant's subsequent arrest constituted newly-discovered evidence that would allow him to circumvent the one-year statute of limitations for filing a PCR application. Petitioner cannot satisfy all five of the Hayden factors. The information about the confidential informant's arrests for drug offenses that occurred several months after the dates of Petitioner's offenses would not have changed the result of Petitioner's case. See Clark v. State, 315 S.C. 385, 388, 434 S.E.2d 266, 267 (1993) (holding one must prove the alleged newly-discovered evidence "would probably change the result if a new trial is had"). The information about the confidential informant's subsequent arrests is not material to the issue of Petitioner's guilt or innocence where: the informant was arrested months after the dates in Petitioner's case, there was an audiotape of one of Petitioner's drug transactions, and Petitioner gave a confession. The information about the confidential informant's subsequent arrests would have merely been impeaching in nature. Evidence used for impeachment purposes is only considered material if "there is a reasonable probability that, had the evidence been disclosed to the defense, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Id.

(citing United States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667, 105 S. Ct. 3375 (1985)). It is highly improbable that, in a case where Petitioner was recorded participating in a drug transaction and later gave a confession, having information that the informant was subsequently arrested would have changed Petitioner's mind about pleading guilty. Plea counsel even testified he could not say this information would have been beneficial at a trial and that this case would have been difficult even with knowledge of this information. (App.p.67; p.71). Petitioner failed to satisfy – as required – all five of the Hayden factors.

In dismissing Petitioner's PCR application, the PCR judge clearly did not find Petitioner's argument to circumvent the statute of limitations was compelling. This Court should give deference to the PCR judge's findings that Petitioner filed his second PCR application after the expiration of the statute of limitations and that he did not meet his burden of proving newly-discovered evidence. See, e.g., State v. Harris, 391 S.C. 539, 545, 706 S.E.2d 526, 529 (Ct. App. 2011) ("The credibility of newly-discovered evidence is for the trial court to determine.").

D.

The PCR judge did not err in finding Petitioner's PCR application was improper because it was successive.

Successive applications for post-conviction relief are disfavored. See Land v. State, 274 S.C. 243, 246, 262 S.E.2d 735, 737 (1980). South Carolina Code Ann. § 17-27-90 (2003) states the following:

All grounds for relief available to an applicant under this chapter must be raised in his original, supplemental or amended application. Any ground finally adjudicated or not so raised, or knowingly, voluntarily and intelligently waived in the proceeding that resulted in the conviction or

sentence or in any other proceeding the applicant has taken to secure relief, may not be the basis for a subsequent application, unless the court finds a ground for relief asserted which for sufficient reason was not asserted or was inadequately raise in the original, supplemental or amended application.

This statute forbids successive PCR applications absent a showing of “sufficient reason” why new grounds for relief were not raised or were not properly raised in previous applications. Aice v. State, 305 S.C. 448, 450, 409 S.E.2d 392, 394 (1991). The only new grounds a petitioner may raise are those that “could not have been raised . . . in the previous application.” Id. (emphasis in original). A petitioner bears the burden of showing that the new grounds he is raising could not have been raised in previous post-conviction relief applications. Id.

The PCR judge did not err in finding Petitioner’s PCR application should be dismissed because it was successive to his previous application. Successive PCR applications are disfavored “because they allow an applicant to receive more than one bite at the apple.” Odom v. State, 337 S.C. 256, 261, 523 S.E.2d 753, 755 (1999) (citation omitted). Petitioner failed to prove he could not have raised the current allegation in his initial PCR application. Petitioner knew the identity of the informant at the time he entered into his guilty plea – and thus also knew this information when he filed his initial PCR application. (App.p.65). In advance of the PCR hearing on his first application, Petitioner easily could have researched the informant through public records, a FOIA request, or a discovery motion. Petitioner could have raised this issue at his first PCR hearing but did not do so.

This Court is required to affirm the PCR court’s rulings if there is any evidence of

probative value in the record which supports them. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. at 119, 386 S.E.2d at 626. Great deference is given to the findings of the PCR judge. Jones v. State, 382 S.C. 589, 595, 677 S.E.2d 20, 23 (2009) (citation omitted). There is probative evidence to support the PCR judge's ruling that Petitioner's second PCR application was successive.

E.

The PCR judge did not err in finding Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving there was a reversible Brady violation in this case.

This Court has set forth the elements required in order to prevail upon a purported Brady violation:

A Brady claim is based upon the requirement of due process. Such a claim is complete if the accused can demonstrate (1) the evidence was favorable to the accused, (2) it was in the possession of or known to the prosecution, (3) it was suppressed by the prosecution, and (4) it was material to guilt or punishment.

Gibson v. State, 334 S.C. 515, 524, 514 S.E.2d 320, 324 (1999) (emphasis added) (citations omitted). This Court has further found that, with regard to cases that end in guilty pleas, “[a] Brady violation is material when there is a reasonable probability that, but for the government's failure to disclose Brady evidence, the defendant would have refused to plead guilty and gone to trial.” Id. at 525, 514 S.E.2d at 325; see also Riddle v. Ozmint, 369 S.C. 39, 44-45, 631 S.E.2d 70, 73 (2006) (“Evidence is material under Brady if there is a reasonable probability that the result of the proceeding would have been different had the information been disclosed.”) (citation omitted).

The PCR judge did not err in finding that the knowledge of the informant's

charges was immaterial for purposes of a Brady violation. Petitioner cannot satisfy all four Gibson elements. Petitioner did not demonstrate the information about the confidential informant's arrests would have been favorable to his case. The informant was arrested several months after the incidents in Petitioner's case occurred. As noted supra, plea counsel testified he could not say this information would have been beneficial at a trial and that this case would have been difficult even with knowledge of this information. (App.p.67; p.71). Petitioner also did not demonstrate the information about the confidential informant's subsequent arrests was known and suppressed by the State. See Butler v. State, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814. There was no testimony or evidence that the solicitor's file contained information or documentation about the confidential informant's subsequent charges. Petitioner further did not demonstrate the information about the confidential informant's subsequent arrests was material to his guilt or punishment. As Petitioner was recorded conducting one drug transaction and later gave a confession to police, there is no reasonable probability he would have refused to plead guilty and gone to trial if he had known the confidential informant – whose identity he knew – had been arrested several months after the incidents in his case. See Gibson v. State, 334 S.C. at 524, 514 S.E.2d at 324.

Petitioner failed to prove all of the Gibson elements. Accordingly, there is probative evidence to support the PCR judge's ruling that Petitioner failed to demonstrate there was a Brady violation in his case.

F.

As Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving he was entitled to post-

conviction relief, the PCR judge did not err in denying his PCR application. See Frasier v. State, 351 S.C. 385, 389, 570 S.E.2d 172, 174 (2002) (“The burden of proof is on the applicant to prove his allegations by a preponderance of the evidence.”).

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Respondent submits this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari. However, if this Court grants certiorari, Respondent requests the opportunity to fully brief the issue discussed above.